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Historian listed above.

NOTE FOR CONTRIBUTORS

Articles ave welcomed by the Hon, [ditor to be considered for publication in The Deron
Historicn. (_}enel‘atiy the 1(31‘!;:{!:]1 shonld not exeeed 2,000 - 5,000 words t_piu,r.; notes an
possible Hiustrations), although much shorter pieces of suitable substanee may also be
acceptable, as are tems of information concerning muscums, local societies and partic-
ular projects being undertaken.

To assist the worle o the Editor and the printers please epsure that conlributions are
clearly typewritten, on one side of the paper only, with double spacing and adoquate
marging, and also, as far as possible, that the jourmal's style is followed on such mat-
ters as the restrained use of eapital etters, mitial single rather than doable invertsd
commas, the writing of the date Lhus ez 31 Getober 1992, o,

HIGHWAY ENGINEERING ACHIEVEMENTS
EXETER TURNPIKE TRUST 1820-1835

A, Brinn George

Nat fong aftey it was tormed in 1753 the Exceier Turnpike Trust eaevied out two major
bridge schemes, Countess Wear in 1774 and Exe Bridee with Bridge Streel in 1778,
The trast also administered 150 miles! of roads but the unprovement of these did nol
take place so quickly, and it was the Homton und Hniuster Turepike Trust wilh its
new road from Yorde, nene Upstiery 1o Hovten Cross neay Hhminster in 1807-122 and
the Cullompton Tarnpike Trust with ils new coad feom Flazelstone, north of Broadelyst
to Padbrooke bridge near Cullomplon in L8 U167 that poioted the way to improving
Devor's long dislonce routes.

Pressurve for the tmprovetent of the long distance roads was building up at the end
of the eighteenth cenliuey with the introduction of mail coaches, but Devon's highways
still sullered lrom:-
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Navrvow width:

vory steep inctines =1 in 7

unnecessary undalation and altitads;

d. exeessive ralling resiatance due to bal surfaces.

(mpravements in width were boeing carvied out under the provision of the Act which
sel 3 feet as the allowable maximuam tor which land eould be taken from the adjoining
landowners and compensation given, but there were 1in 7 inelines on the roads from
Fxeter to Plymouth, to Okchampion, to Tiverton and o Cullompton via Bradninch.
Roads rose to over 800 teet to eross Haldan Hill, Lo 765 foet beyond Whitestone and to
500 feet over Stoke Hill, Undoubtedly historieally the high voutes retlected the need for
travellors to keep above attack in low ground but thoe wade wheeled travel exhaust-
ing. Soft and pot-holed roads led to broken wheels and axles.

In 1818 James Green, County Bridges Surveyor to the Quarter Seasions who also
was practising as o consulting engineer, proposed to Lhe Plvmouth Bastern Turnpike,
the Ashburton Purnpike and the Exeter Turnpike Trusts o ecomprehensive improve-
ment to the Exeter to Plymoulh road that involved the subzequent realipnment of 14
miles of route. His propoesals were printed by Nettleton of Plymouth and published
with a plan to a seale of one inch to one mile.d The Exeter Tarnpike Trust route to
Chudleigh at that time passed through Shillingtord and the final vise to the crest on
Haldon was ab a gradient excesding | in 7. While Green’s route across Faldon thy the
racecowrse) saved Hitle in altitude, 785 as against 817 fect. by using the route in
Newton (Abbol) as far as the bottom of Telegraph Hill and by disturnpiking the
Shillingford route, il was possible to veduee the overall mileage to be maintained by 3
mies. Green proposed gradients not exceeding Din 18 on the woestern side of Haldon
and 1in 16 on the eastern side, The Turnpike Trosts combined ts hoave o Bill passed
through Parliament in June 18205 and the old road w Chudleigh reverted (o the
parishes in November 1822, So even in those days inception o complelion ook three
VEHTS.

A record of Green's fees for this work is not available but o fuvther project gives an
indication. On 16 January 1821 fifly-two trustees, including Sir LD Acland, Sir 5.
Naortheole and 5 H. Cavew, meb at the Globe Tavern, Mxeter, to hear Joomes Green
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report on the possibility of improving the BExelet to ()kehamptun road as far ag
Crackernwell, Qus being the limit of the Trust on that route. The essence of the report
was that white litlle coutd be achieved between Taphouse {Tedbuyn &t Mary? and
Crackernwell othier than widening and malking a causeway, the length between St
Thomas, Bxeter, and Taphouse via Whitcstone was 50 difficult to improve that a new
rotle was raquired. The Whitestone route was difficnlt because at Red Hill there was
an ineline of 1in & for three furlongs and beyond Nadderwater a long ascent at 1in 12,
Al Heath Cross the elevation was 785 feet before the road dropped to Lilleybrook and
finally ascended to Taphousc.

Circen praposcd using the Exeter to Dunsford road as far as to the top of Pokem Hill
and then following the Alphin brook to the top of Five Mile Hill (the Pathfinder village
now) where Lthe summit would be 440 feet. Gradients would be | in 18 to the top of
Pokem {Povombe Hill and 1 in 20 to Five Mile Hilt and to Taphouse ® Ag buill the road
started from Pocombe bridge and an Acl was obtained on 19 April 1821.7 Ceeen wis
paid £185-05-2d for making the plans of the new road and was also paid a further
£11,11s, possible for attending the Trust to present his scheme in person, His estimate
for the proposed works was checked by Thomas H. Lakeman and by the new Trust
Surveyor, William McAdam. McAdam built the road which was completed in July 1824
and the route was taken in as part of the Trusk the following Octoher.

A recital of the sunmumnit heights of the old amd new road does nol Lell the whole stocy
of the amount of ascent required to [ollow these routes, The difference in clevation
betwees the Seven Stars Inn at St Thomas and Tedburn St Mary was ahout 380 feet,
but this was not a continuous rige and the table below shows the ameust of the three
ascents in that direction on the route,

ST THOMAS TO TEDBURN ST MARY

{Heighls above Ordnance datum in feet)

Vi Whitestone Vie FMive Mife Fill
5t Thomas 3 St Thomas 0

+271 +170
Redhills {Wstone X3 3010, Redhilly (0 vossmend 201)
Nadderwater 200 Tocombe Bridge 45

+RES +345
Fleath Cross 765 [Fave Miie Hill 440}
Lilieyhrook 281 Gireat Fluish 354}

+134 +70
Tecdhurn St Mary 42203 Tedburn St Mary 420
Total rises +U75 Tolal vises +0B5
Dillerence it summit heigrhts T6H - 40 = 325
Difference i total ascents 075 - 486 = 390

Working lrom St Thomas to Tedburn the total ascents ace 975 teer an the Whilestone
route and 385 feel on the Five Mile Hill route, TraveHing in the opposite divection in
wrder Lo descend the 390 feet from Tedburn to 8t Thomas one does in fact have to
aaceng G585 feet on the Whitestone voute and 195 feet on the new route. This 390 foct
difference is the signifieant measure of the improvement of Green's route cottplod with
his easior gradients. The other meagure is that William MeAdam had become Swrveyor
to the Trust in May 1820 and his caveful management of the road surfaces in accor-
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dance with the principles of his futher J.L. McAdam would bring about a significant
reduction in rolling resistance, so that tegether the work of Green and McAdam would
enable Lhe trustees to veport that the number of horses in a team had been reduced
over many journcys.

Meanwhile in mid-Devon the Hon Newton Fellowes, later to become Lovd
Portsmouth, had employed the Barnstaple architeet Thomas Lee to huild Eggesford
House which was completed in 1822, This delightlul siluatien was, however, the wrong
side of the river Taw from the Exeter to Barnstaple turapike road so in 1824 Fellowes
employed James Green to divect the construetion of a new bridge across the viver,® no
doubt to ensure the construction would be deemad suitable for the strueture ta be
adopted by Quarter Sessions in due course as a4 County Bridge. The Hon Newton
Fellowns war a trustee of the xeter Turnpike ¥ Also in 1824 that Trust were employ-
ing as a surveyor for new works John Pascos, who had assisted James Green in the
survey of Braunton Marsh in 1610, [n 1824 Pascoe was busy finding & new route at
Culverhouse Hill ion the Dunsford Road) for the Trast, but by January 1825 the min-
utes note that he was surveying new lines of road for a fortheoming Bill in Parliament.
Green must have put o few tdeas to Fellowes and these had obviously been passed on Lo
seleeted trustees, for in July 1825 Lhe Lrustees at a meeting at the Globe Tavern passed
a series of instruetions. The Surveyar was to tay down tew lines from Cowley bridge to
Crediton, from Crediton Lo Barnstaple Crass, to Copplestone and thence in parallel to
the Mareluod Bishop raad Lo abreast of Chawleigl, about 13 % miles. Mr Pascoe was to
obtain Lhe consenl of awners so that the Solicitor might be enabled to lay before the
House of Comnons at nexi Sessions a Bill for the projectad improvements, Mr Pascoe
was to confer with the Flon Newton Fellowes respecting the laying down of the plan of
the north line of road. Mr Pascoe was to lay down new lines from the New London Inn
Lo the Red Cow Gate and from Cowley bridge to Stoke Canun and obtain the consent of
the owners. The Solicitor was to give regular notices of the passing of the new Bill. The
Treasurer was to write to Bamstaple Trust pointing out the necessity for improve-
ments to their road.

8o three new schemes were afoot: Exeter to Barnstaple, Cowley bridge to Stoke
Canon and Red Cow Gate to the New London Inn, Exeter. At that lime the road to
Barnstaple left Crediton via Mill Street and Forches Cross to go to the north of the
town and thence to New Buildings, Morchard Bishop, Chawleigh and Chulmleigh
before dropping to cross the river Taw at Colleton Mills and then rising to Burrington,
High Bickington and Atherington before recrossing the viver Taw south of Bishop's
Tawton and then reaching Barnstaple. Pascoe's route was westwards from Crediton to
Barnstaple Cross which was the summit at 454 feet and thence to Copplestone. [From
here the road descended along tributaries of the river Taw to the Taw itself whenge it
followed that viver to Eggesford bridge.!? The Barnstaple Trust took the road from
Eggesford bridge alengside the viver to join the existing route at Fishleigh Barton,
some 22 miles from Crediton.l! The Exeter Turnpike Trust received its Act on 22
March 1826.12 The brilliance of the new route was the reduetion mm ascents and
descents. Colleton Mills at 170 feet was 6 feet higher than Mill Street, Crediton at 1684
feet. The table shown below gives an indication of the enormous reduction in work by
travelling on the new route. The elevation of Eggesford bridge is 200 feet and o an
appreciation can be made of the effort saved by the Hon Newton Fellewes in travelling
to Exeter by a new road that followed a river, rather than crossing a series of vaileys
and summits, as aseents of 304 feet for him could be compared with 1218 feet on Lo the
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old Lurnpike road via Chawleigh.

CREDITON TO COLLETON MILLS
(Heights above Ordnance datum in feet)

Via Morchard Bishop Via Copplestone
Credilon Mill St 164 Croditon Mill St 16
+194 +290
Forches Cross 358 Barnstaple Cross 454
Frogmire 217 Spence Combe 350
+361 +50
New buildings 578 Dulings 400
Knathorne brook 360 Copplestone 345
+130
Oldborough 490 Dart bridge L79
+39
South of Morchard 445 Chubtmleigh Cross 218
+95
Morchard Bishop 540 Colleton Mill 170
Calves bridge 298 Total rises +379
+331
Forches 629 "
Handsford 419
+141
Labhett’s Cross a0
Savoury's 240
+260
Chulmleigh H00
Colleton ¥l 170
Tatal rises +1512

Difference in summit heights629 - 454 5 175
Difference in total aseends1512- 370 = 1133

This scheme was completed in about 1830 and James Green vollacted £60 from
Exeter Turnpike Trust for the designs of three bridges, two at Bury and ane at Lapford
together with £60) from Barnstaple Trust for two bridge designs, one over the river
Little Dart and one nver the Taw at Newnham. Paseoe was paid £50¢ in January 1527
for work over somu years and no more 15 written of him after 1825, [t is not clear when
the Cowley bridge: to Stoke Canon scheme was completed but it had first priocity for
construction in Oclober 1827, This simple timprovement, mare or less ad horizontal
tevel, avoided the existing route via Old Tiverton Road, Mincinglake bridge and Stoke
Hill to the Stoke Canon enuseway. Levels were 53 feet at Cowley rising to 90 feot und
dropping to 85 feel at Stoke Canon. Hithertn, travellers had to climb to 506 feot to cross
Stoke Hill and elimb 1 in 7 inelines on the way but the new racte was one mike further
from Exeter Guildhall to Stoke Cannn. Nevertheless the saving in energy by using Lhe
new rotte was obvious, '

In February 1830 the Hon Newtan Fellowes gave notice that at the next mesting of
the Trust he would move the following resalubion:-
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That as the new roads now forming by the Trust from Eggesford bridge and Stoke
bridge will be jncomplete without a new line of road is made to avowd St David’s
Flil, that such new line shall be execuled as soon as by a complete investigalion
the hest line of voad can be ascertained, the necessary powers from Parliament can
be obtained, and the state of lunds of this Trust will justify the undertaking.

In fact it took five years to achieve the best coute for New North Road. In September
1832 it was reporled that the estimated cost of land at £8000 equalled the original
overall estimale. Eventually work was completed in April 1835 by Mr William
MeAdam at a cost of £484 below the agreed estimate to a plan completed by Mr Murvay
Vickers. Al the same Lime £2500 was voted to the Exeter Improvement Commisstoners
towards the £9000 cost of the Iron Viaduct and approaches in Lower North Street
across Lthe Longbrook, as this improved the commencement of the turnpike rvoad to
Barnstaple from the Crown and Sceptre Inn by reducing the drop to the Longbrook.
This structure remains today as possibly the Hnest example of cast iron construction in
the south west peninsula, The gradient on the south east approach o the viaduct was
eased to 1in 17 and on the north west approach to 1 in 20.

Over some fifteen years the worst routes of the Exetor Turnpike Trust were replaced.
Green and Pascoe were employed on a part time basis to locate and define the new
routes while Wiltiam MeAdam wasg employed to carry out construction, local widenings
and to improve road surfaces by diligent maintenance. These were years of great
achievement for the Exeter Turnpike Trust as the Trust established new standards for
improverment and maintenance. A maximum gradient of Lin 16 was achieved for new
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work, small embankments and cuttings assisted in reducing ascents and descents and
there was the eavly use of bridges to carry one road over another such as at Great
Huish farm on the Exeter to Tedburn St Mary road.
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OPENING UP SOUTH DEVON
- THE HOPKINS CONNECTION

Keith 8, Perkins

An early atternpl at spening up' part of south Bovon was the Plymauth & Dartmoor
Raibway, brainchtld of Sir Thomas Tyrwhitt, wha visualised b as a beneht to agricultur-
ab developments on the vaoor and a4 giving a protitable hinterland to Plymouth, An Act
to incorpovate the rpdlwiay was ahtained in 1819 and o soecond Act, i 1820, authorised
extension of the agreed Hne at Ulymaoulh o Sutton Paol, with a branch to Callewater
To givee overall supervision to the cansteaction of the ratlway the P & D). R Company
had horrowed', as part-time engineer, Witliam Stuart, currently by Adimicalty appoint-
menl engineer under Joluy Rennie and Joseph Whidbey to the Plymouth Breakwater
undertaking.

In 1821, during the line's consiruction, serious difficalties arose, and the committee
of the P s D T Company resolved ‘thal an engineer practicaliy acquainted with vail-
ways be appotnted under ¥ Stuart.™ The wan they chose was @ Welsh civil engineor
and mineral sueveyur, Roger Hopkins of Glamorgan, Described as one of the carly vail-
way engineers, Hopkins had, in 1804, built the tramroad hetween Pen-y-darren and
Abereynon in south Wales upon which Richard Trevithick tried the first raihway loco-
motive engine.? Certainly Roger Hopkins posscssed the neeessary qualifications for
being ‘practically acquainted with railways’ for be had also engineered the Monmouth
Railway through the Forest of Dean (1812),1 and now, on 8 April 1821, the P. & D. R.
Company appointed him assistant engineer to their company, thus putting him into a
tavourable position to take over from Willilam Stuart should they deem it expedient.
But first it was requested of Hopking that he inspect and report on Lhe state of the vail-
road between Crabtres and Jump (Roborough), where it appears that Stuart had devi-
ated from the agreed route.

The findings of the report were apparently so sericus that il became necessary to
amend the carlter Act. Hopkins was sent off to Parliament to guide through a new Bill
at the Lords’ Select Commitiee stage, and, with the Earl of Shaftsbury in the chair,
Hopkins stated to the Committee ‘that the necessity (or the present application to
Partiament for the Bill was not manilested until the month of April last, and originated
in the impracticability the said railway found of proceeding with the work on the origi-
nal line . . Such allegations ‘were proved by Roger Hopkins to the satisfaction of the
Committee’ and on 2 July 1821 ‘An Act to authorise the Plymouth and Dartmoor
Railway Company to vavy Lhe line of a certain part of the said railway; and to amend
the Acls passed for making the said vailway received the Royal Assent.8

The humiliated Stuart had to take the blame for what had oceurred, and on 8
October 1821 after continually refusing to co-operate with the communiltee on the matter,
he was dismissed from the office of company engineer™ Eventually, on 26 September
1823 - after new supervigion of construction - the Plymouth and Dartmoor Railway
was opened, During the years of its operation lhe name of Roger Hopkins was to fea-
ture in other developments.

{n south Devon the year 1823 saw further enterprising events. For instance: Captain
Samuct Brown RN, of Union Chain Bridge fame, designed an 850-ft span suspension
bridge for Saltash;# James Meadows Rendel - engineer to the Earl of Morley of

9



Saltram ~ advanced plans to erect a suspension bridge acrogs the Plym estuary at
Laira;? and whilst Reger Hopkins retained his posilion with the P & D.R. Company he
also attracted those projectars swho, waedor the chairmanship of George Templer, 1V
wanted to build a bridge over the Teigm estuary between Te ignmouth and Shatdon.
The combined effoct of such imaginative undertakings, together with the construe-
tion and improvement of roads throughout south Devan — for so long the domain of the
pack horse and little else - contributed to the opening up of the county and the further

nnce of wheeled traffic. [£ was John Loudon McAdam - ‘MeAdam {the Colossus of

Ruwds¥ as Punch called him — and his son William who were chiefly responsible for the
recrgaaisation of roads in seuth Devon which helped to vestore much of the county's
prosperity in the 1820s.1 Thus, when the estuary bridges al Teignmoutl and Laira
were completed, they would become the ‘exits and entrances’ to the Tnrge agricultural
districts of the southern shores of the county’t2 between Exeter and Plymouth, not
least the South Hams, and the rapidly improving watering places, particutarly
Torquay. They would, in faet, become integral parts of Lhe south Devon woast voad, ¢las-
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atfied today as the A379.

It was consideved that UL would be ol 'advantnge to the inhabitants of Teignmouth't?
and ils adjacent villages if a bridge were erected across the River Teign, Such an idea it
geems had been mooted from as early as the turn of Lhe evighteenth century and again
in 1821, but it was not until late in LB23 thal eavlier proposals began to take on a more
pasitive dimension, and here Roger Hopkins slips back intg the picture by way of a
curtous incident when James Rendel approached him as he attended to railroad mat-
lers on Dartmoor,

The Barl of Movley, who had for some amsiderable time been ander pressure from
Sir William Elford (the PFlymouth Recorderlt and athers to abandon his plan to erect a
suspension bridge across the Plym estuary, now considered the construction of a woad-
en britye instead. But Rendel, who opposed the idea, nevectheless was directed by
Morley, on the morning of 28 Oclober, to attend Henry Woolicombe!5 at his office to see
the modet of 4 wooden bridye that Roger Hopking had designed (almoest certainly this
was thir design for ‘[eipamouth), But, unable to find Woollecombe, Rendel set ofT to find
Hophins. Alas, Hopking relused 1o show the model to him, leaving Rendel no allerna-
tive but to relura to Morley to repert his failure. 18 A few days later, however, on 10
November, bisth Hopkins and Readel could be found on the banks of Laiva ‘ascertaining
the practicability of building a wooden bridge on the Western site . ., rom Great
Prinee Rock Lo Pomphlet Paoint. Instead, the eastern site opposile Saltram was cho-
sen L7 '

On 8 December, with the backing of the Modbury Turnpike Trustees, Rendel wrote in
a letier to Morley:

‘My Lard, [ cannot avoid at this time giving vour Lordship a lew of my reasons for
doubting the eligibility of & wooden bridge over the Lavy and 1 frust that your
Lordship will not read them with an iden that they proceed from prejudice ancd
blind favour v suspension bridges .. [18

Butl Rendel's ease could not have heen helped when, in o letter to Morley, dated 28
BPecember, Thomas Telford, who had just veturned fram Dublin and was advising
Moriey on bridge matters, wrole that:

‘[ have no hesitalion in saying that taking into consideration all the cireumstances
eonnected with the commuaication across the Laira that I consider a properly con-
structed wooden bridge upon the upper or Bastern side, preferable to a suspension
bridge constructed upon the lower or Western site . .19

Late in December 1823 Flopking - who was no longer in consultation with Rendel at
Laira — set off for an extended spell in London, where, for the next five months, he
assisted in. amongst obher matters, the preparation of an estimate and tender to sup-
ply Dartmant granite for the whole construction of the new London Bridge:2V thus the
Piymouth & Dartmoor Railway Company would benefit from this new teade by trans-
parting granite from Dartmoor to quays in the Plym estuary. 8till in Landon, in
Febraary 1824 he finalised the design for the proposed bridge between Teignmoeuth and
Shaldon 2t and we (ind, by examining the design itsetf, that Hopking had designed a
wonden bridpe of 43 arches, with the arch at the extreme northern end vpeaing out-
wards towards the mouth ol the river to form a swing bridge, thus allowing the passage
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of larpe ar musted vessels. Over the main channel a humped oy raised seetion consist-
ing of three arches was shown, but the lengihy approaches on the Teignmouth side (ay
still seen today) were not equalled at Shaldon. However, when the bridge was complut-
ed in 1827 nine of the 43 arches had been omitted leaving just 34, and the reduction of
nine arches from the original design seems to have been the reason for extending the
approaches at Shaldon,

In Plymouth, alse in February 1844, James Hendel again tried to persuade Lord
Morley to abandon the wooden bridge scheme by quoting cases of wooden piles at
Sheerness needing replacement cvery six or seven years. 22 But, as we shall see later,
this warning by Rendel went unheeded, not at Laira though, where soon the issue
would become irrelevant, but at Teignmouth. However, by 20 May Morley had settind
the matter ‘when it was determined (at Laiva) to build a wooden bridge of seven arches
on stene piers’.23 Ultimatelv, on O Junge 1824, Bills to erect bridges at hoth
Teignmouth?! and Laira received the Royal Asseat. But within five days of the Act, on
14 June,?5 the whole scenario at Laira had changed when Rendel produced the design
of a cast iron bridge, which induced Morley to alter his contract with Meossrs Johnsan2s
and to adopt this new plan instead.2?

By 8 Auguat the contract for a wooden bridge had been thrown out, and one for a cast,
iron bridge - of five clliptical arches, to be built on the oviginally proposed western site
— was put in its place, no doubt to the great delight of James Rendel. And as constyue-
tion of the two bridges progressed overthe next three years, 50 the south Devon roacds
showed signs of considerable improvement. Mr R.W, Nowman of Sandridge (MP for
Exeter I818-26 and trustee to the Kingsbridge and Dartmouth Turnpike Trust)2® stat-
ed to a Commons Select Comumillee that ‘since the roads have been improved by the
MeAdam family and by surveyors who have imitated them, the conveyance is now so
easy and rapid that a very large amound of the cconamy of the county is daily sent from
Deven tn the Metropolis such as buller, poultry aud other articles’. McAdam was
knowu to have worked for no pay at all. and at Durtmouth where the trust finances
wore inan embarrassed state they declined o invite him until they were assured it
would not put them to any expense.29

O 8 June 1827 the Teignmouth and Shaldon Bridue was opened to traffic by the
Buchess of Clarence {later to be Queen Adelnide) when she drove over it in her car
riggre. Little more than a month later, on 14 July, the duchess spened Laiva Bridge in
similar fashion.

By the early 1830s there had been considerable progress in making Uevon roads
wide enaugh to take wheeled traffic,3¢ although for some years to come the transport of
peaple and goods was still to be largely on the backs of horses. As the ‘opening up’ pra-
cess continued, in 1833 Flenry Woollcombe, as founder and president of the Plyvmeuthy
Institution * . . paid tribute to the skills and industry of MeAdam'. Sadly however, by
1836 John Loudon MeAdam,?! whose name had passed into the language in bis own
lifetime, was dead, his son having predeceased him by a few months.

Any euphoria surrounding the improvement of roads in south Devon puled inta sig-
nificance when, at 1nm en 27 June 1838, part of Roger Hopkins' bridge collapsed into
the main channel of the Teign catuary, albeit withoul loss of life. The cause, aggravated
just two hours earlier when two heavily laden wagons passed over the bridge, was
extremely serious:

‘A spocial meeting of the (Teignmouth & Shalden Bridge! Campany was held on 10
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inst (July), when it was resolved, that it is the unanimous and decided opinion of
the meeting, that the injury recently sustained by the bridge was solely and entive-
ly occasioned by the destructive effects of the worm (shipworm, or more appropri-
alely, pileworm'32

Rendel’s warning about wooden piles needing replacement every six or seven years
had come to roost! Horseboats were brought in to transport both horses and carriages
until 13 April 1840, when the bridge — the longest in the United Kingdom — having
been repaired was opened again to the general public.

By 1834 James Meadows Rendel had turther improved communications in south
Devon by constructing a drawbridge at Bowcombe Creek near Kingsbridge,? and by
establishing steam and chain floating bridges at Dartmouth,?* Saltash and Torpeint.
In 1838 he left Plymouth to set up business in London, leaving Nathaniel Beardmore,
his partner, to deal with westcountry matters, '

Roger Hopkins by this time, now in partnership with his sens Rice and Thomas (who
also were cmployed by the P. & D.R. Company) had enginecered the Bodmin &
Wadebridge Railway in Cornwall. In 1836 the partnership founded the Monmouthshire
[ron and Coal Company (based at Bath), owned cozlmines in south Wales, and built,
owned and directed the Victoria Ironworks in Ebbw Vale.38 Evan Hopkins, the
youngest son (named after his grandfather — yet another railroad engineer’ in 1854
wrote a short memoir to William Stusrl, whose daughter he had married.37

Appendix

Tetgnmouth and Shaldon Bridge disaster - 1838

‘Shipworm also called Pileworm, any of Lhe approximately 85 species of marine bivalve
mollusks of the family Teredidae (Teredinidae}. Shipworms are common in most oceans
and seas and are important because of the destruction they cause in wooden ship hulls,
wharves and other submerged wooden structures . . ." Encyclopaedia Britannica.

Historical Notes:
Teignmouth & Shaldon Bridge 1827 — was replaced by 1932; but Hopkins' hridge
approaches on both sides of the Teign estuary remain serviceable today.

Laira Bridge 1827 - was replaced by 1962; but parts of Rendel's abutment and bridge
approach road at Pomphlett Point still survive,
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AN OVERLOOKED DESCRIPTION OF CREDITON

Ian Stoyle

The Oetaber 1890 issue of The Devon Historion contained an article by Alan Kelly!
about his forbear, Samuel Rowe (178318531, orviginally a Plymouth bookseller, Selling
hooks led to writing them and to membership for many years of the Plymouth
Institution. Goe of the papers he presented al the Institution was developod into the
influential Perambuletion of . .. Darimoor? for which he 18 now hest remembered,
though long before ity publication he had abandoned booleselling, taken Holy Orelors,
and setlled in Creediton after his cloction as Viear in 1835,

Alan Relley mentioned in passing that the Hev Samuel Rowe's assistine: was sougrht
in regard to information about Crediton for a projected worle on Devon which was
tever comploeted.

The reference was to the gazetteer of the county planned, or intended, by E3L.
Stockdale, A quite Targe collection of papers relating Lo it is kept at the Devon and
Exeter Institution in the Cathedral Close in Exeler. IL is o misecllany, ineluding
manuscript notes, printed pages rom unidentified souvees. rogments of pedigrees, and

transeripts from carbier histories. One item of nteresl 3= an unrecorded skeleh book of

another, unrelated, Rowe, (e Exeter-torn artist George Rowe { 1796-186408. However,
the jewels of the collecbion are the dozens of responses lrom clergymen Lo the lellers
which Stocledale had elearly sent them in pursuit of both information about their
parishes and orders Ior the eventual book. Boumd a Little confuasingly in alphabetical
order of incwmbent rather than ol parish, they coalaia many delails that can he found
nowhere else,

It is quike possible that iL was Samued Rowe wha, as incumbent, contributed the
description ol Crediton iy White's Directorvd of 1850 Be that as it may, the desceription
that he wrote for Stockdate in February 1841 was carlier. and in some respects Hvelier,
He was moveover o man far wham topographical writing was no new expertence, as the
guality shows. Since recent enguiries have detecterd no Jmowledge of Rowe's account in
present-day Creditan, it has scemad worthwhile to transeribe it and disseminate it
more widely throvgh the pages of The Devcon Historan.

Here, then, is Samuel Rowe's deseription of Crediton in 1841 Rowe'’s spelling has
heen retained thronghout, while punetustion has heen modernised in places.

"Crediton is one of the most antient towns in Devonshire. In the time of the Anglo-
Saxons 1L was the geal of the bishops of the diocese, and so continued until Leofrie in
the reign of Edward the Confessor vemoved it to Exeter. Crediton subsequently beeame
u collegiate church and the building still presents an appearance not unworthy of its
pristine honours, The church (g1 dedicated Lo the Tloly Cross and 1= a noble pile. 175
feot in length exclusive of the Lady Chapel and 73 feet in breadth across the transept.
The building is cructfortm with a fine tower riging from the inteveection of the cross,
which is supported by pters with arches springing from them, evidently among the old-
est part of the building. H ix traditimally reported that the prosent chwreh ioes nat
stand upon the site of the original building but it is not probable that any material
change of situation has taken place. The choir, nave and aisles are uniform in stybe und
the general appearance of the structure warrants our attributing the principal part to
the Ldth century, when it was probably enlarged and the greater paet cobult, Onoenter-

1¢]

ing the western daar a fine vista presents itself in one unbroken line from west Lo east,
the pulpit and reading desk heing placed divgonally at the piers of Lhe tower arch, The
choir is raised three steps above the general level of the church, The north and south
transepts were ariginally chapels. The seuth porch has a beautifully grooved cieling,
the only relic of this kind new remaining, although within the memory of some of the
alder inhabitants the chair, nave and side aisles were appropriately finished with
cither a vaulted or an angular cleling, with vibs, shields, copes. ote, at the intersections,
A plain flat cieling al present deforms the structure and still conceals parts of the orig-
inal work. The piers of the arcades are massive and in rich capitals, and both in nave
and choir are similar in plan and design. These, with the windows, belong to the
Decorated period of the Pointed styte, The lofty clerestury is so abundantly supplied
with windows, especially in the choir, as to render the fabwic particularty Light and airy.
The eastern is a noble window, very peculiar in ils Lracery. occupying the whale
breadth of the choir. The other architeclural features of particular interest are the
three stone stalls with canopies on the south side of the chancell sadly mutilated - a
remarkably interesting double piscina {early} near the south-vast door - the antient
Saxon font tately restored and reappropriated to itz original vse. The Lady Chapel now
used ag a Crammar School is the breadth of the choir and sonth aisle, bul originally
appears to have included the north atsle also, or rather prohably the south aisle was
included in the church like the north aisle now is; and the Chapel accupied ouly Lhe
breadth of the choir. The arches here are evidently of kigher antiquity than those of the
chureh itself. The tower, though massive, ix fincly propartioned and erbattled with
lofty eroquetted pinnacles. Over the south-cast entrance Lo the church is the
Corporation Chamber, where the Twelve Governars as patrans of the chureh and its
dependencies meet to fransmit their business. Over the south poreh is the antient
Muniment Room, now furnished with a library, the gifl of a former Vicar more than a
century since. [t containg some good editions of the Fathers and other valuabte theolog-
icnl works, The church is substantially pewed with wainseot and, including the gal-
levies fupr the schonls recently erected and other late additions, is computed to seat
about 2000 persons. There are many interesting monuments but the most attractive to
the antiguary is that of Sir Johe Sully and his lady, which Jong lay buried under the
flovr of the rising seats, hut which was removed from its concealment when the last
improvements ware made in that part of the church, It is an altar tomb with the effi-
gies of the knight in plate wemowr and with that of the lady in the costume of the age
(Edward LU Judge Pervian’s monument and that of the Fulford family are also tnter-
caring examples of their vaspoctive arts.

The altar-picee is in the scenepainting style, representing an interior with Moses
and Aaron, aod firnung anything but an ornament to the church, There is a good
organ. The tower is furnished with a fine peal of eighl bells, a clock and chimes. The
church is open for divine service three times on Sundays, on Wednesdays, Fridays and
holydays. The Vicar and Chaplain of Crediton are elected by the Twelve Governors.
They are alse patrons of Exminster, Sandford and Kennerleigh, and of the Crediton
Grammar School. Creciton chureh yurd is spacious and agreeably planted with limes,
and has lately been much enlarged and tnproved. Tt is now protected by a continuous
tron railing with tofty granite pateways,

Large as the church is, the accommodation is found to be quite insufficient for the
wants of this extensive parish. Within the last hve years a great boon has been con-
ferred upon the southern parts of the parish by R, Hippestey Tuekficld Bsq, who has
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built and endowed a neat and commadious chapel at Posberry for the convenience of
his tenantry and neighbours and of his own family when residing at his cottage lately
erected near the chapet, The Chaplain is appointed by Mr Tuckfield as patvon, who has
also built a house for the dergyman’s residence. Mrs Hippisiey Tuckfield, a henevolent
lady, who is well known for the zeal and ability she has displayed in endeavouring to
improve the National and other systems of education for the poor and whose works on
that important subject are so deservedly celebrated, has built a boys’ and girls’ school
in the immediate vicinily of the chapel where the children are instructed on her
improved syatem with gratifying success. It is hoped that two other chapels in the
western tythings of this extensive parish may be erected at no distant time and thus
the church accommodation rendered adequate for the wants of the parishioners. The
CGrammar School, which as it has been already noticed is kept in the Lady Chapel at
the enst end of the church, was founded by charter of Edward V1. The Master, who is a
clergyman, is appointed by the Twelve Governors. The charter diretts that the
Governors shall distribute 8 pounds vearly amongst four poor boys of Crediton appoint-
ed by them as scholars of the said school, to be called Queen Elizabeth’s Grammar
Schoelars at Crediton.

Two charity schools, the English School and Blue School, were united in 1814 and
placed under one Master in the house evected at Penton adjoining the town in 1806
under SirJ. Havward= Charity. They are supported by endowments and annual contri-
butions. The system is generally spealking that of the National Society. The Master and
Mistress are appointed by the Twelve Governors and subseribers. Dunn’s School, estab-
lished for navigation, ete, under the will of Mr 8, Dunn in 1794, endowed by the tesla-
tor with £600 stock at 5 per eent, s also in the patronage of the Governors. There is
also an Infants school supported by subseription, and Sunday Schaols for boys and
girls. The Independents, Unitarians, Wesleyans, and Baptists have each a chapel in
the town,

Crediton is an improving town. sinee the Manor passed inte the hands of James W,
Buller Esq an Improvement Act has been attained. Under the provisions of that Act
the Great North Devon Road which before only skirted the town now passes thraugh it,
the main street having been widened and new openings made for thot purpase and for
the general improvement of the town. Mr Buller, as Lord of the Manor, has also
remaved the Shambles from the High Street and built & spacious and eommadious
Market in North Street, with new and convenient streets of approach. A room has been
appropriated for the sitting of the Magistrates which are held there. The weekly mar-
ket is on Salurday. The vestiges of the antient division of the town into the Borough or
West Town and East Town is still preserved in the fairs. The West Town of 5t
Laurence's Green fair is held in August, the East Town Great Market {cattle fair) in
April, and another cattle fair in September.

Crediton is 3 polling place for the Northern Division of Devon and the Centre of the
Crediton Poor Law Union, which contained 29 parishes. The Union Workhouse, a neat
and conventent brick building, is in a healthy situation west of the town on the
Barnstaple road.

At the west end of the town is St Laurence’s Chapel, now converted inte dwellings.
Little traces of the sacred character of the edifice remain, exeept the east and west win-
dows, which are in tolerable preservation, al the lancet form with three lights. In a
barn at Yeo, a farm in this parish. arc alse some remnants of an antient chapel. Near
the church are some buildings forming two sides of a small guadrangle, lately oceupied
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as the parish workhouse. These evidently are parl of the vld ecclesiastical buildings.
North east of the chancel is the site of the Bishop’s palace. Searcely a vestige can now
be traced of the building, but the name is still retained. The vicarage. which is 2 mad-
ern housie, was built and is kept in repair by the Governors. Part of (he garden was
within the precinets of the antient palace. The Chaplain’s house in [Jean Street was
also built, and is kepl in repair, by the Governors. Near it is an old building still ealled
the Deanery. One of the rooms contains some vestiges of departed dipmity in its wain-
scoted walls and pannelled cieling with pendants, Of the old almshouses near the
chureh yard on Bowden Hill there is nothing worthy of remark. Coplestone Cross is a
highly interesting relic of antiquity. Il stands at the extremity of the parish on the High
Read to Barnstaple, on a pedestal of modern masonry. It is a rectangular shalt with its
southern face ornamented from top to bottom. A niche at the top to receive a figure still
remains. In the church yard at Crediton is a large wrought stone which was probably
the pedestal of a highly ornamented cross. The antiguity of Crediton may be traced in
the history of Winifred the Archbishop of Mentz, whose birthplace it was. A spring
which once used to supply the East town with water is still traditionally known as
Winifred’s Well. The antient episcopal chavacter of the place may also be discoverad in
Lord's Meadow, the name of a vich piece of land between the town and the Creedy, and
in The Parks, a valuable estate adjoining the town on the south, formerly the Bishop’s
park, now the property by a late purchase of Mr Buller Downes, the family seat of that
gentleman, is pleasantly situated on a gentle ascent abave the vale of the Creedy. The
views from the house are rich, diversified and agrecable. The prospecls have of late
years been much improved by the present pussessor, Part of the grounds of Fulford
Park, the seat of R, Hippisley Tucklield Esq, is in Crediton and the mansion is just on
the borders of the parish. Posberry Lodge ts o sporting seat helongting) to My Tucldfield,
of modern erection. Newcombes, adjoining the town of Creditan, is a handsome build-
ing, delightfully situated, the seat of Benjamin Cleave Esy. Trowbridge, on the south-
ern side of the parish, is the vesidence and property of John Yavde Bsq. Spencecombe,
which was formerly a gentleman’s scat, is now oecupied by a farmer. There is an
antient intrenchment at Posberry which has never been noticed by any writer. [ believe
I am the frst person who pointed it out and measured it.”

Notes and References

1. Kelley, Alan, ‘Samuel Rowe: no ordinary man', The Devon Fistorian <1 (Qct 19900,

2.  Rowe, Samual; A Perambidation of the Antient and Roval Forest of Dartmoor and
the Venoille Procinets, Plymouth and London (1848).

3. [ have no doult that the sketchbook was George Rowe’s. [t came from George
Rowe's Depository of Arts in Cheltenham. [t contains sketches, in Rowe's style, of
Exeter, Kenilworth, Leamington and other places he 1s known to have drawn,
There is a lengthy itinervary of places of interest visited in the Midlands and on the
Welsh borders in 1534, which is ‘marked out for my antiquarian friend S.R.K. by
his old friend and fellow travelier, GR.. I 'G.R is George Rowe, then ‘SRR is
surely Simon Radford Ridgway (1799-1878), who was a Writing Master at the
newly founded Mount Radford College when Rowe was the Drawing Master there
in 1827. Ridgway soon alterwards went his own way in Exeter, setting up the
Magdalen House Sehool and later the Marlborough House School. Fe was awerd-
ed an Honorary Doctorate by the University of Giessen in 1800, and, as Dr
Ridgway, vivalled Mr James Templeton of the Mansion House School as the City's
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leadding private schoolmaster. o was an arbist in his own vight, piviog Lthat as his
agcupation in the 1871 Census of Exeter, and is Hsted in Sumers Cocks, Devon
Topographicad Prinis 18601870

4. White, Witltam, Fistory. Gazetteer, and Direcfory of Devonshire, Sheffield {1850).

(An associated articte by fan Stoyle, on F'W L. Stocludate, proposer of the gazettoer to
whom Rowe addressed this deseription, will be ineluded in the next edition of The
Devon Histarian, Bditor)

DEVON’S HISTORY IN THE NATIONAL CURRICULUM
SOME RECENT INITIATIVES OF
DEVON LIBRARY SERVICES

Fan Maxted

To meet Lhe needs of teachers preparing courses of study for the new National
Curriculum history, the County Foeal Studies Libravian has prepared a sevies of eleven
reading fists fur these who wish to add o local dimension to some of the History Study
Units, Five period and six thematie lists have been prepared:

L. Invaders and setllers (<1066}

2 Medieval vealms {T0RE-1500)

The making af the kingdom (1300-1750
4 Expansion, trade and industry (T750-1940)
5. The twentioth contury

6 Domestic life, families amd childhood

7. Food and farming

8. Houses and places of worship

9. Land transport

1} Ships and seafuriug

11, Writing and printing.

pe]

The emphasis is on secondary sources which should be widely avinlable in focal stad-
iew collections, lending libraries or bookshaps as well as articles in move widely held
periodicals. The items included cannot always be directly geared to children but may

1)

help teachers in proparing projecl matevial lor class use. The lists were distributed as a
series of individual leaflets duving 1991 bt have now been reissued together They are
available from the County Local Stuiics Librarian, Barley Fouse, Isleworth Road,
Exeler EX4 1RQ. A vemittance of £1.50 (payable to Devon County Couneil) towards
photacopying and postage and paclang should accompany ovders. There is no vestric.
tion on further photocopyioy of the booklists for education use, Any suggestions for
improvement of the lists should also be divected to the County Local Studies Librarian
(ted: 0392-3843215.

The Loeal S8tudies Section of Devon Librarvy Services has also inltiated o conservation
programme [oe its fragile single-shect material imaps, broadsheets, illustrations ete)
As part of Lhis programme all pre- 1800 broadshects in the Westeauntry Studies
Library were photocopied, toguther with some other material. The resilting copies
have been mude up into broad subject groupings entitied "Excler Garlands” and are
also available for purchase bom the county Local Stadies Libragian, The following sets
are available al present. An asterisk indieates sets which ave in Lhe eavly sloges of
corapilation only anud whose contenls may Uherelore be Hoviled, This series is in con-
sland evolution as new material is discovered and copied. the items are printed oo Ad
sheetz wilhin covers in a plastic slide bindor

No. Fithe Shoets Price
I National politics 1841.1793 A4 £4.50
2 Election broadshects 17241806 24 £3.00
: Ide Blection 1761-1812 24 £3.00
4 Wars and Revolutions 1549-1803 a1 E3.00
5 Crime and punishment 1782-1854 28 £5.75
3 Fstite documents 1710~ 1800 30 v3.75
7 Playhills and entertainments 1756-1793 A8 E4.50)
B Trade and-lmlush‘y 1731-1340 L#57 E3.00
3] Poetry and popular Hlerature 1780-1810 el £3.00
L0 Charity, wellore & roligion 1708-1814 27 £3.95
11 Loeal government E6G73- 1809 g £3.00
12 Deseription & travel 1776 12~ E3.00
L3 Mliscellany of broadshects 1651-1810 27 E3Th
14 tdection broadshoets 1812 A7 £4.50
15 [Heetion broadsheets 1518-52 15 £3.75
14 Plvmouth playbills TR40-41 B 375

Also available from the County Local Studies Edbrarian ave the issues of the "Devan
Ribliography™ from 1985 to 1989, price F2.00 per annual issue. These list an average of
600 books and pamphlets published enclt year. Since 1986 arrangement has becn by
pluce subdivided by sulject with indexes of wathors, subjects and proper names form-
ing the subject of works.



FIGHTING FOR THE KING, SIR BEVILL AND SIR
RICHARD GRENVILLE

Elizanbeth Hammett

Fifty vears after Sir Richard Grenville of the Revenge fought his heroie sea battle and
died from his weunds, his grandsen also fought bravely and died from the bilaws he
received, But Sir Bevill Grenville Fought on English soil against other Eoglishmen, The
year was 1643 and the divisions belween King and Parliament were finally heing
tesolved in the grim reality of vivil war, There waz another grandson, also Sir Richad,
like his grandfather, He survived the battles to die in exile abroad just months before
the restoration of the monarchy., .

These twoe seventeenth-century Grenvilles were very different characters. Bevill is
remembered as a brave, gallant, honourable man whose untimely death was a bagie
loss not only to his family, bul alse to the King’s cuuse. Richard is remembered as the
black sheep of the family, 2 quarrelsome, eorvupt, vindictive man whose hehaviour con-
tributed to the failure of the Royalists in the West. Few people are as black or white ag
they are painted and the war itse]l brought out the best and the worst in men who
might otherwise have lived obscure lives,

Bevill and Richard were born i1to a'family with deep roots in Deven and Cornwall.l

Their father was Sir Barnard Grenville, eldest surviving son of the Elizabethan Sir
Richard. Their mether wag o Cornish heivess and Bevill particularly always regarded
himself as a Cornishman, He was the eldest son, born in 1596, so the bulk of the
Orenville inheritance came to him, If it hadn’t been for the troubled times, he would
probably have pussed his lite happily as a country gentleman looking alter his proper-
ty, raising his family and taking his part in local administration. He setiled at the fam-
dy home of Slow, near Kilkhampton.? His father had not lived there and the property
had been nepiected, Bevitl made many improvements to it. On his marriage his father
also settled on him the Manor of Bideford and the island of Lundy. Bevill married
Crrace Smith, whase family lived at Madford, just outside Exeter. She sutfered from ill-
headth for much of her life, but was a loyal wife, bearing several children and attending
to affairs in Cornwall during Bevill’s many absences.

During the disagreements between Parliament and King prior to the outhreak of
war, Bevill had supported the reformers, But there was no question of where his loyal-
ty lay when it came to fighting. Saciety then was still strengly influenced by the feudal
code and chivalrie ideas of honour. Called upon to serve in the army against the Scots
i 1639 Bevill wrote, [ eannet contain myself within my doors when the King of
England’s standard waves in the field upon so just an occasion . .. And for mine own
part, 1desive to acquire an honest nime or an honourable grave.

At the outhresk of the Civil War Bevill was one of the King's Commissioners for
Cornwall. He mortegaged wmuch of his property and raised large loans to pay and equip
his soldiers. He was rarcly able ta make the repayments on his loans. Financial diffi-
cultios were one aspect of life that Bevill and Richard had in common and it sometimes
canaed disputes between them.

Cornwall was strongly Royalist, but Deven was divided with the towns being for
Purliament. Even BevilPs town of Bideford was against the King and did not surrender
to the Royalist forees until after Bevill's death. A Cornish army was gathered logether
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and made an unsuccessfal attempt to take Bxeter, They retreated back to Cornwall,
where the Parliamentavy forces were defeated at the battle of Braddock Down. Bevill
led the charge that scattered the enemy. Advancing once more inlo Deven they were in
tarn defeated at Modhury and retived again to Covnwall. There was then an uneasy
truce in Devon and Cornwall which lasted from the end of February to April 1643,
Further battles followed before a Royalist Victory at Stratton, a few miles from Bevill's
home at Stow, Then the victorious army proceeded steadily throngh Devon without any
major battles. Their intention was to advance on Bristol, but they needed to fight the
Parliamentary army in their rear first. Bevill led his Cornish pikemen valiantly until
he received a fatal blow, from which he died the next day, 8 July 1643. His troops con-
tinued te fight ‘with their swords drawn and tears in their eyes’ following Bevill's
young son, Jack, who had been hoisted on to Hevill's horse when he foll.4

Bevill’s remains were earried back to Cornwall and buried in the family vault at
Kilkhampton.

Richard Grenville was serving in the army in Ireland at the outbreak of war in
England and on returning in the summer of 1643 was captured by the
Parliamentarians. Theraupon he enlisted in Lheir army, possibly to ensure he was paid
for his Trish servieed He stayed with the Roundheads until 16 March when he went
over to the King's side, bringing with him military secrets and money. He also thereby
carned the undying hatred of the Pacliament side who eatled him ‘SKellum Grenville’
and swore to hang him if they caught him.6 Being an experienced professional soldier
he was weltomed by the King's side and was ane of the major players in the remainder
of the Uivil War in the West of England.

Richard's behavisur is much maore ditficult to understand than his brother’s. He
must have been a charismatic fgure for he commanded layalty and discipline from his
troops. But he alse attracted much disapproval and disgust tor his selfish, sometimes
brutal, behaviour, especially lrom the civilian papulation wha anty wanted to be left in
peace. He was u younger son withvut the ressurces to match his extravagant tastes,
and greed was undoubtedly a motivating foree in his actions. There were frequent
claims Lhat he ased his power to envich himself rather than for the goad of the cause.

Greed seems Lo have been the only reason or his disastrous marriage many years
before to Mary Howard, o young widiow with a large fovtune. Haviog had previous
experience ol fortune-hunters she had ensured that Richard conld not muke free with
her property. which angered him. There were violent quarrels and, after the birth of
two childven, she left Richard. There were various legal actions which resulbted in
Richard being imprisened. He cscaped abroad to fight in foreign wars. His wifc
obtained a diveree in his absence, This unhappy episode seems to have embittered
Richard. If any of his wife’s employces came into his power they could expect little
merey. Her steward, George Cuttford, is thought to have died as a result of his impris-
onment by Richard when he was commander of the King's forces before Plymouth,”

This was Richard’s chief role, commanding the Royalist siege of Plymouth.® The
Roundhead hold on Plymouth was one of the main reasons for the defeat of the
Royalists in the West. Although they could besiege the city on land, they could not pre-
vent supplies coming in by sea. Richard tried various methods to take the city, both by
military farce and by treachery but nothing worked and in March 1645 he was ordered
to leave Plymouth and advance into Somerset. He did so, bul was badly wounded and
spent two months recovering in Exeter, which was by Lhen in Royalist hands. The rest
of that vear was a sorry tale of bickering commanders with conflicting commissions
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who could not, or would not, co-operate. The Commissioners of Devon, responsible for
vaising money and supplies for the King's cause. complained to the Prince of Wales
about Richard's misbehaviour. It was alleged that he held civilians Lo ransom and that
his troops had foughl with troops under other Royalist officers.? Several members of
the Prinee’s Council visited Richard and altempts were made to settle his disputes
with the Governor of Fxeter, Siv John Berkeley, without much success,

Despite these problems, the Royalists seem Lo have realised that Richard Grenville
was the best leader they had snd he was offered command of the new army being
formed from the western troops. However this deeision was countermanded by the
King who appointed Lord Goring as overall commandoer. Naturally this did not please
Richurd and there were further quarrels. Goring’s soldiers were notoviously H-disci-
plined, being allowed to plunder the countryside, thus further alienating the general
population from the King's canse. [t was generally acknowledged, despite the outrages
he committed, that Greaville did at least diseipline the troops under his command.

Gradually the Royalists retreated back into Cornwall and final defeal became
inevitable. [n January 1848 Richard Grenville was imprisoned when he refused to
aceept a subordinate command under Lord Hopton. Goring by this time had [led
abroad, But he was released in Marel when the Prince of Wales left Cornwall for the
[sles of Seilly. The fighting was over and Richard, knowing that if the Roundheads
caught him he would receive no merey, alse escaped abroad. He continued his quarrel-
some ways amongsl the extles abroadrand died a lonely and embittered man in 1669,
having been looked after by his daughter. !9 On 25 May 1660 Charles IT returned to the
throne, Bul for Beville and Richard Grenville, as for so many others, il was too late,
The Grenville tamily fortunes were restored by Bevills son Jack, who was ereated Earl
of Bath.
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MR SHARP’S PORTRAITS
AT TEIGNMOUTH AND EXMOUTH

Christopher G. Scott

A daguerreotype photopgraphic studio was epened at 3 Castle Terrace. Uxeler, during
1842 under licence from the ‘patentee’ Richard Beard.! Apparently the Heence covered
fixeter and 16 miles arowd, but by 1844 the studio had closed. However, in 1846 Beard
advertised in Fxcter for lHeensees, and by May 1847 the Exeter studio had reopened.

[t therefore seems surprising Lthat someone would open a studio at Teignmouth? dur
ing September 1848, since there already was one at Exeter, and considering Lhe
expense and uneertain recompense of establishing a studio in the ‘out of season’ resort,
There would obviously be fower customers than in the summer months, and exposure
times would be longer, with the visk of blurred portraits. But a My Sharp advertised
that he had erected g ‘glass chamber’ as a studio taking coloured photographic
daguerrectypes at Woodbine Cotlage, Brunswick Place, Teignmouth, By November, he
advertised that he was leaving the neighhourhood, However, during Mareh 1848 Sharp
advertised in the Exeter and Plymouth Gezette explaining what he was doing,

Mr Sharp had made arrangements for the exclusive vight to take his photographic
portraits ‘in this distriet”? He had taken the Portrail Rooms at 3 Castle Terrace,
Exeter, and had erected a ‘glass house’ for taking ‘highly finished Coloured Portraits’ at
Baring Place, Exmouth. Examples of the ‘gradual progress made in the Art’ could be
seen at the BExmouth studio from 10 to 4 o'clock, Monday Lo Wednesday, and zal the
txeter studio Thursday to Saturday. Sharp’s advertisement, daled Exmounth 17 March
1849, pointed oul that he had ‘seven years of incessant sludy and practice in London,
Bath and elsewhere’. The photographer’s vigits Lo Exeter ‘in consequence of other
arrangements’ were to be discontinued after Saturday 9 June (8494 and he seems to
have left Exeter and s vicinity as no further references appear in the local newspa-
pers. Who was My Sharp?

It is thought o Mr Sharp operated a daguerreotype studio at Bath in 1841 as a
licensee of Richard Beard.® Also, a Mr Thomas Sharp is thought to have hought the
vights from Richuard Besrd (the patentee) for the whole of Somerset and had licensed
Thomas Sims to operale a studio al Weston-Super-Mareb in 1847, An examination of a
newspaper that cireulated in both Sherborne {Dorset) and Yeovil (Somerset) shows a
Mr Sharp operaling at Yeovil in 1847, It seems to be the Mr Sharp who visited Devon,
In January 1847 Sharp advertised to inform the town of Yeovil that for the first time he
was on a short visit and had erected a ‘glass chamber’ for taking coloured photographic
porlraits.? A part of that advertisement is the same as thal appearing at Teignmouth: ‘.
.. the productions of the present season far surpass in delicacy of tone, as well as in
truthfulness of expression, thoese of any former peviod . . The advertisement, dated 20
January 1847, invited the public to view specimens at Mr Sharp's apartments, at Mys
Garretts, Reckleford, near Silver Strect, between the hours of ten to three o'clock. The
newspaper commented that photography and . |, ‘various processes connected with this
interesting art, it is generally known, are patented in this country, and . .. can only be
conducted by thoze who have purchased . . . the exclusive right to practice of the paten-
tee . .. Mr Sharp’s licence does nol extend beyond the county of Somerset ., he canmot
favour the habitants of Sherborne with a visit. We do hope . . . many of our friends
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may be induced to ride over Lo us, in order Lo see and judge for themselves ., .8

By April, Sharp had broadened his advertisement to include Yeovil, Sherborne,
Ilchester, and their vicinities.® In May, he advertised thal he had engaged a French
artist of distinction, 19 The advertisement, dated 21 May (847, claimed that ‘within the
last three days’ Sharp had interviewed a French artist in London and had ‘engaged
him to colour phatographic portraits.’ The mdist was ‘Mons, Mansion® who the adver-
tisement climed "has not only elicited the highest encomiums of the Press, but . . . the
patronage and support of the most illustrious personage in the Realm’. Also, Sharp had
procured ‘fresh seenery for backprounds painted expressly for the purpese in London.’
It is though that Mansion copied and cotoured daguerrestypes tor the famous London
photographer Clandet!! in 1845, Also, that Mangion was a [rench miniature painter
who exhibited at the Royal Academy 12 of Arts in 1829 and 1821 (However, & Mansion,
born at Nancy, 29 Navember 1785, is listed by one authority!? as having died in Paris
. 1834). An example of his work shows his style was readily transfirable to colouring
daguerrectypes, 14

Sharp advortised in June that he would soon be leaving for Weston-super-Mare, and
would close his engagements en or before Monday 21 June as he had made arrange-
ments Lo he at Weston-super-Marc at midsummer. 19 Perhaps Sharp was going to assist
his licensee Thomas Sims. Comparing Mr Sharp's adverlisements from Yeovil,
Teignmouth, and Exeter, suggests it was the same man in all those enterprises. Sharp
probably had & purtable studio that cmuld be transparted by the growing railway net-
work.18 His use of towns and resoris seems to be ealeulaled to attract interest in
daguerrcotype photography as a commercial undertaking and thereby the sale of
licences, rather than being the actions of someone earning a living as a travelling pho-
tographer, Sharp’s advertising, and some reparts, suggest that his speciality may have
been photographing children, a potentially lucrative source of income at a time when
infant mortality was relatively high.

If Thomas Sharp had the ceunty licence for daguerreatype photography for Somersat
then it is reasonable to expect he would have liked a sumilar arrangement for Deven.
Sharp had lelt Yeovil in the month of June probably to assist his licensee at Weston-
super-Mare; and he may have left Exeter alse in the month of June for a similar rea-
son. Richard Beard’s daguerreotype patent had been chalienged by Egerton ¥ who had
been successful in July 1848, but the case was reconsidered in January 1848 and
Beurd's patent rights were re-established in June 1848, Gernsheim emphasises that
Beard's patent term ran its full 14 years and was never overturned. Beard's patent
would expire on 14 Augusi 1853.18 What effect such deliberations had on the actiong of
Thomas Sharp in Devan is unclear, Sharp was prabably the first commercial photogra-
pher in both Teignmouth and Exmouth. He shows how the activities of Richard Beard’s
lcensers were instrumental in spreading commercial photography in England.

However, there is much still to be learnt about the early history of phatopraphy. The
early studios of Beard’s liconsees have been plotted on n map of Britain. !9 It may sug-
gest from the patlern where other studios might be found, ¢.g. at Exeter, Truro, or
Cardiff. Similar shortouts in research may be possible by nating that some photograph-
i¢ advertisements appeared nationally, e.g, Beard advertised for licensees around July
1842 and again around June 1846. The researcher ean look around similar dates in dif-
ferent areas of Britain for new material. Auy information on licensees and related
advertisements can be used in the same way.
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THESES ON DEVON HISTORY, PART 2

Sheila Stirling

A tist of thases on Devon history compiled by Linda M. Thamas appeaved in The Revan
Histurian na. 9, 1974, pp.28-33. This paper brings the list up to 1991 and includes one
of two items praviously omitted. Exeter University Library has copies of all Exeter the-
scs, Where copies of these fand other) theses are held elsewhere in Pevan, the list gives
locations. TL does not claim to be complete and notice of omissians (and of ndditional
locations in Devor libraries) would be weleomed. [t does not cover theses in progress,
for which the Resenrch Repister published by the University of Excter’s Centre for
South-Western Histavical Studies {2nd ed. 19923 5 a convenient source {see also
Bibliography below). As before, the lst is confined to masters and doctoral theses.

All University of Exeter theses can be consulted in Lthe University Library, Most the-

sex fom British universities nve available through the inter-libary loan service, either
from the library of the institution granting the degree or from the Brilish Library
Docoment Supply Centre on microfilm. Exceptions are: London University masters
theses after 1968; Cambridge University doctoral theses before 1968 and all
Jambridge masters theses; these three eategories may not be bovrowed. American doe-
toral theses are available for purchage through the Uriversity Microfilms Company.
The British Libracy Document Supply Centre has a large collection of microfilms and
will purchase any not already held. American masters theses ave not for loan.
Austrabiun theses are ravely, Canadian sometimes available. Anyone consulting or bor-
rowing a thesis must sign a declavation acknowledging the auther’s or university’s
copyright and promising nat to quete or publish information [rom the thesis without
prior consent. fThe above details were kindly supplied by Mg Heather Fva, Inter
Library Loans, University of Bxeter Labrary.
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REVIEWS

Maps and Map History in South-West England, Katherine Barker and Roger
Kain, Fxeter Studies in Fistory No. 21, University of lixeter Press, 1991 FRO5, xii +
148 pp. A3 fgures. [SBN 0-85989-373-1.

As one of the contributors to this admirable volume remarks, like any other document
surviving from the pasl, historical maps cannot be expreted easily to yield up theiv con-
tent, meaning and significance. Considerable effort 1= frequently required in order 1o
elicit the information encoded in an old map. But unlike other kinds of written ovi-
denee, cartographical representations of past landscapes embody o potent appeal to the
sendes as well as to the inteileet. They have a steong visual attraction aud they strike
an emotional chord which expresses the fundamental attachment of human heings to
place. Historical maps evoke not only the realities of past landscapes, but also some-
thing of the meaning and interpretation ol those tandscapes seen through the eyes of
conteraporary wnhahitants, Given our primordind need te visualise both the events and
personages of earlier times, and the setting in which those events and people were
focated, it is no surprise to find that the scholarly study of map history continues to
Hourish,

Maps and History eomprises d collection of six diserete essays rather than a coordi-
nated or comprehensive survey of the subject. Its strength lies in the examples
described by the authors of u variety of maps and their historienl significance. While
the tedium of a users manual or a4 catalogue is avoided, each contributor nonelheloss
demonstrates the possible application and explovation of map evidence by means of
apecifie tase studies which togelher represent more than tour eenturies of vegional and
local cartography.

The openinyg chapter by William Ravenhill is the text of his ‘Harte Lecture in Loeal
History’ presented in the University of Exeter in 1990, [n eleganl prose, Ravenhill’s
pssay explores the progress of privately-funded topographical mapping in Deven and
Cornwall in the cighleenth century, Tis roots, he tells us, extend buack Lo the tradition of
county map-making pioneercd during the reign of Blizabeth. while its practice sur-
vived even after Lhe ereation of the Ordaance Survey, In skillully unserambling the
complex sequence of eighteenth-contury mapping projects in the vegion, in revealing
the reasons which lay behind them, and in offering a judgement on their significance,
this chapter provides a most apposite opening to Lhe collection,

By exploring the provenance and content of an Elizabethan map of a small area of
Dorset, the second essay, coptributed by Katherine Barker, marks not only a dramatic
change of scale, but also ol approach. Barker’s concern is to employ the map as a source
for the reconstruction and interpretation of & sixtecnth-century landseape. She vecog-
nises that the Elizabethan plart often carried a symbolic message undevlining the pres-
tige and power of its poatron. As a topagraphical representation such maps are therefore
inevitably highly selective and their use as a source of evidence requires much eare,
But this chapter offers an impressive object lesson for the local historiian in how to
comb a manuscript map for geographical information. Indecd Barker's feast whets the
appetite for Grabam Haslam's essay tocused on the Duchy of Cornwall estate mups,
Because =o little scholarly work has been earcied out on the history of Duchy proper-
ties, nny new conbribution is to be welcomed. Bul Huaslam's chapter yvields only o
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glimpse of the richey preserved in the Thuehy archives. His discourse poses many gues-
Lons but provides fow angwers. Il s, in Fact, 2 useful introduction to Lthe subject which
gerves to indicate the immense scopr which exists for a full-seale investigation of the
‘flair and genius which a long line of Duchy cartographers . . produced’. Five splendid
maps reproduced from the Duchy archives testify to the need for a more complete treat-
mend.

More familiar carlegeaphic territory is encountered in John Chapinan’s essay on
Enclosure Maps. But for those who suppese that there is little Teft Lo say about this
particutar calegary of cartography. the author provides some new insights. Most histo-
rians are aware that the spatial coverage of enclosure maps is far from complete, but
Chapmun'’s key message is to beware of planimetric inaccuracies, measurement ineon-
sistencies and omissions, His chaprer provides useful deseriptions not enly of survey
and mapping methods, but alse the topographical and landownership information
bequeathed as a result of the process of parliamentary enclosure. Similarky worthwhile
summary sketches of two olther major entegaries of historieal imaps ave provided in the
following essays, The maps associated with the Tithe Surveys are discussed in chapter
five, while Ovdnance Survey maps are considered in the final chapter. In both eases,
although much weightier treatments exist elsewhere, the contributors provide author-
itutive summarics, especially valuable for anyone new to the subjeet.

Beeause each essay is well-<illustrated and a list of references is given, Maps and
History doubles as o handbook on map sources for local historians working on South-
West England, But, as Professor Ravenhill remarks, there are an estimated six million
maps either not catalogued or inadequately catalogued in the Public Record Office
alone. Clearly, books such as this represent only a tantalising beginning.

Mark Brayshay

Drake's Island, Plymouth, by F'W. Woodward. Deven Archaeclogical Soriety, 1991
32pp. 27 fgs. £1.95. ISSN 0264-7540,

Since it was (inally disarmed in 1956, this fortress island in Plymouth Sound has had a
chequered vareer. Released by the War Office in 1963, it was used az an adventure cen-
tre under various auspices untit 1989, when Plymouth City Council, its owner since
1976, surrendered it back to the Crown Estates rather thae pay for repairs and mod-
ernisation. Attempts to fnd a new lessee have so far fatled, but continue. In the imean-
time the general public has been denied access fsince 1989) to what is, ulter all, an
important historical monument, developed at public expense, and maintained as a
fortress for four hundred years to cammand the sea approaches Lo Plymouth and
Devounport.

Major Woodward’s booklet is therelore titnely, in providing hoth a reminder of the
very existence of the military installations on the Island, and a comprehensive aceount
of its histary and present eomdition.

The fortress belongs to the modern period; its [ortifications were begun in 1548 by
the Corporation of Plymouth, at the urging of the Crown, to prolect the tirst gun bat-
teries, Manned against the Armada, and for Partiament in the Civii War, the [sland
became even more itnportanl once a mujor dockyard wos established on the Tamar in
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the 16805, Today, the most impressive surviving works are those of the nineteonth con-
tury, including the barracks af the 18308, and the massive granite casemated curved
battery of the 1880« at the eastern end, supported by underground magazines excavat-
ud from: the solid vork. Bul there are surviving elements of earlier venturics, with sub-
stantial remaing of the batteries of two world wars. The iHustrations include 18 pho-
tographs, and plans of 1592, 1725, 1780 and 1811, with a really excellent modern plan
ocenpying the two centre pages. Appendices deseribe the armament,

Thig Imoklet ean usefully be read in conjunciion with Major Woodward's earlier worlk
Plynm_uth’s Defences, a Short History, which he published himself in 1990 1aTpp.
£4.95, South Torr, Comwaed, Lvybridge, Devon B121 9RB).

Reg Ershine

Centre and P(:‘,l“iphf_n‘_\-'. Brittany and Cornwall Compared, Ed M.A. Havinden, JJ.
Quenel and J. Stanyee. Unwversity of Excter Pross 1991, 260 pp. £9.50. ISBN 0 85939
365 0.

The papees in Lthis velume are the vesult of o seven vear collaboration between the
Universities of Rennes 2 and Fxcter with the aim of discovering why the twa regions
beewme pevipberal, other than in the geagraphical sense, and what has heen or could
be done about it. The main conclusion is that for the Fubure regional unity is of first
tmpartance, Following thus cohesive policy Brittany has had some successes and Devon
and Cormwall might do the same althouwgh hampered by the existing and possible
future shapn of the machinery of local government. -

The diffieudty facing the investigators was that they were not huoing asked to rompare
like with like. Brittany has double the population of Devon and Cornwall combined and
three times the area. [t also has osensoe of tdentity stemming trom a native language
which is still spoken. The lwo English counties de not form an historic wuit and their
current relationship does not amount to much more than a Joint police avthority and
activilies comected with Plymouth’s position on both sides of the Tamar, One writer
indecd suggests that seuth and east Devon belong more properly to the prosperous
south cast of the country. However, to compare Cornwall alene with Brittany, although
historically mere satistactory, would merely incrense the imbalance. 8or official plan-
aing purposes there are sevon counties in the South West Region, OF these Cornwall,
Devon, Dovset und Somerset are alse members of the Atlantic Ave. As o group they
might have made a more appropriate comparison with the five Reetan Depa-l‘tmtmts.

The book ix not an easy read. Some important chapters ave in both English and
French. vthers in ane language only, sa attention is neeessary on the veader’s part not
to mistake an original for a translation, The chapters themsclves are necessarily short-
ened versions of reports presented by each side to conferences held in 19XT and 1089,
Readers of The Devon Historian may wish to study closely Uthe varions OS84YS IR 800~
nomic analysis of ‘peripheratity’ bul for Devon and Cornwall perhaps the main nding
can be sel to the old rhyme: 'Higamous, hogamons men are endopreneous; hogammu-'.,
higamons capital’s exogenons.” OF more interest is the historical assessment which
starts in 1700, the date by which the: Bretons considered that they had lost all powers
of independent action. There are papers on economic evolulion, agricolture, cdueation,
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religion, polities, population and seeial change. IFthe writers had had move space it
wauld have becn inleresting to have had their agssessment of the vensens for industrial
declive in Devan and Cornwall aad, for example, the movement out of Lthe area of sue-
cessiul entreprenewrs with their capital. The haportance of Tourism is rightly stressed
but it reeds to be distinguished from Retivement, the olher great source of income since
1800, The tourist trade 15 seasonal, provides mainly lemporary employment and
requives a heavy capital outlay in holels and special wstallations, The retived bring in
capital and down to 1814 ut Jeast had a constant deinand for domestic Jabour. Anather
matter which might have repaid further study is that of identities. There is a tendeney
to pluy down the Cornish sense of identity in the absence of a living langunage,
Cortainly down to the 1930s many Cornish still spoke of 'going Lo England” when evoss-
ing the Tamar. Menlal affinities cin be just as strong as lingaistie, While it s probably
true thal there has been ne rexl Devan identity there was an atterapl Lo create one at
the turn of the century with songs like (Horfowes Dovon, associations of Devon men in
other cities and countries and indeed in the dialeet stories. Although the latior were
mainly humorous ay literature Lhey did go back to Brivoe in the 1740

The importance of this book is that it 15 2 pioncering work completed clearly in the
fuce of yreat difficultics and providing the basts for future sludics. As such it is much Lo
be welcamed,

. Adrian Reed

Old Dartmoor Schools Remembered - 1, hy Mary Stanbrook, Bricsham, Quay
frublications 1995, £5.25, ISBN 1 KTO083 35 0,

Education it the countryside way often u precarious commodity. ‘To hegin with there
were those in authority who belteved thuat the quality ol edueation shoutd nal be such
as to make chitdven unwilling to work on the land. Secand there was the natural desire
of many poer labourers to burn thair children inlo an economic asset at every opportu-
nity. Mary Stanbrook covers the schools by vilkage and hamiet tn cavetully researched
detail and a wealth of phatographs.

Many of the problens lacing poorly paid teachers were caused by physical problems
of the buildings, Hillbridge, for example, did not acquire a blackbroed tild 1901 and
even as fate as 1905 there were no maps or boeks, There was one rmn tor up Lo -0 chil-
dren under one teacher. At Peter Tavy the school committes, chaired by the rector, was
otherwise all farmers, not known for genervus views oa the value of education.
Teachers were varable in quality but the best were well remembered and got goad
inspectors’ reports, as af Holne, described in 1367 as one of the best littlo country
schools, althougeh there they had Lo cope with a tyrannieal viear who refused a new
stove and adequate coal to be avdered. Muny af the small schonls becaane vilnerable in
the inter-war years as papulailion drifted away from the land and family size was
reduced, A brief revival took place with the arrival al evacuees during the Second
Warld War bat many are now attractive private honies, While the review has so far
examined some of the nepntive aspects ol obstbrucetion there were on the other side gen-
erous henefactors, The Exrl of Devon pave land ot North Bovey lor the school apened
there in 1842, theve too the Reve W.H. Thornton was geneveus, Al Leusdon Mrs
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Chartolte Larpent paid entirely for the school building and its running alter it was
ay1eer] RR . . . H colr \ ’ :

opened in 1855 and later built i school house, The poorest childrem were allowed 1o
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atlend W ithout paying. This ix 4 woest attvactive book and we can all look forward to
succerding volumes.

L H Porter

Grenville, by Alison Crant, North Deven Museum Trast, 1991, 78 pp, ¥4.95, [SBN p
804018 3 8,

The celebrations marking the 400th anniversary of the defeat of the Spanish Armada
have lended Lo avershadow an ovent which must have shattered the peaple o Bideford,
the deuth in 1591 of the town's most eminent son to date, Sir Richard Greaville, The
Novth Devon Museum Trust hos not let slip the opportunity to revive mterest in this
remarkable man and Es most fetunade in being able to turn to D Afison Grant, its pwn
Chaivman, for a short and up-to-date Jife and times’. With undue modesty Lhe uuthor
dizelaims any novelty for her findings, and indeed thers is vary little new to he discov-
erecl, but many readers (and especially, one hopes, Uhe senior pupils in o schools) will
he grateful for this thovoughlv-researched and authoritative treatment, with none of
the romantic nonsense that spoils so many otherwise admirable booklets intended for
the general reader. 1t s stylishly written and containg proper souree reforenees and an
Index, It ts to be warmly recommended, not least tor the excellent. maps and drawings
by Mark Myoers,

Jovee Youings
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